
 

SALISBURY PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

Tuesday August 5th 2025 6:30PM 

Remote Meeting by Live Internet Video Stream and Telephone 

Members Present:             Members Absent:     1 

Dr. Michael Klemens (Chair)              2 

Cathy Shyer (Vice Chair)         3 

Martin Whalen (Secretary) 4 

Allen Cockerline (Regular Member)                Staff Present 5 

Bob Riva (Regular Member)            Abby Conroy, Land Use Director (LUD) 6 

Dr. Danella Schiffer (Alternate Member)          Miles Todaro, Land Use Technical Specialist (LUTS) 7 

Beth Wells (Alternate Member)                Attorney Charles Andres, PZC Counsel  8 

 9 

Brief Items and Announcements 10 

1. Call to Order / Establish Quorum 11 

Chair Klemens called the special meeting to order at 6:30PM. A quorum was established with five regular 12 

members present (Dr. Michael Klemens, Cathy Shyer, Martin Whalen, Allen Cockerline, Bob Riva). 13 

Alternate Members Dr. Danella Schiffer and Beth Wells were also present. 14 

 15 

2. Approval of the Agenda 16 

 17 

Motion: To approve the agenda. 18 

Made by Riva, seconded by Cockerline. 19 

Vote: 5-0-0 in favor. 20 

 21 

3. Minutes of July 7, 2025 - pending 22 

4. Minutes of July 21, 2025 - pending 23 

5. Minutes of August 4, 2025 - pending 24 

 25 

Public Hearing - 6:30PM 26 

6. #2025-0287 / Wake Robin LLC & Ms. Serena Granbery (ARADEV LLC) / 104 & 106 Sharon Road & 53 27 

Wells Hill Road / Special Permit for Hotel, Redevelopment of the Wake Robin Inn (Section 213.5) / Map 28 

47/ Lot 2 & 2-1 / DOR: 05/05/2025 / Open Hearing, Close By 09/09/2025 29 

 30 

The public hearing opened at 6:30PM. Secretary Whalen read the Legal Notice. Chair Klemens 31 

introduced himself, the Commission Members, the Land Use Office (LUO) Staff, and the Commission 32 

Attorney Charles Andres. Chair Klemens explained that if a project complies with the Regulations, the 33 

Commission cannot legally withhold approval of an application, despite any public opposition. He said 34 

the Applicant chose to proceed with their application despite an appeal of a regulation amendment by 35 

the Crugers. The Superior Court schedule was included in uploaded documents for the application and 36 

will be briefed, argued, and potentially decided by the end of 2025. Chair Klemens stated the Applicant is 37 

proceeding at their own risk. He said if the Crugers are successful in their appeal, an approval by the 38 

Commission would be vacated. He explained once the Applicant applied for a permit, the Commission 39 

had to process the application and does not have the discretion to delay acceptance. Chair Klemens 40 

explained that the Applicant requested that the entire record from their previously withdrawn 41 

application from 2024 be incorporated into the new application. He also explained that qualifications of 42 

the Applicant and speculation about future use of the property cannot be a legal consideration for the 43 

Commission. He added that speculation of religious use could also expose the Town to legal liability 44 

under the Federal Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons Act. 45 

 46 



 

SALISBURY PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

Tuesday August 5th 2025 6:30PM 

Remote Meeting by Live Internet Video Stream and Telephone 

Chair Klemens requested the Applicant limit their presentation to forty-five minutes and to focus on 47 

project changes made in response to concerns expressed by the Commission and the public. Chair 48 

Klemens asked the Commission and public to focus on non-acoustical portions of the application at this 49 

meeting, since the Town’s Acoustical Consultant would be presenting their report at the public hearing 50 

continuation on August 12, 2025. Chair Klemens explained the LUO can accept written commentary until 51 

the public hearing is closed but emphasized that ex-parte communications with Commission members 52 

are prohibited. 53 

 54 

LUTS Todaro listed the submitted materials for the application. Landscape Architect Mark Arigoni of SLR 55 

Consulting, Civil Engineer Todd Ritchie of SLR Consulting, Land Use Attorney Joshua Mackey, and 56 

Development Team Project Partners Steven Cohen and Jonathan Marrale were present to represent the 57 

application. Attorney Mackey thanked Chair Klemens and said the application was fully compliant with 58 

Section 800 of the Regulations. He also disagreed with Chair Klemens’ statement that the Commission’s 59 

decision must be vacated if the Crugers’ appeal is successful. Attorney Mackey added that the Applicant 60 

has been cognizant of concerns expressed by the Commission and public. 61 

 62 

Steven Cohen introduced a slide show presentation that outlined the Wake Robin Inn redevelopment. 63 

Mr. Cohen explained ARADEV LLC consisted of himself and business partner Jonathan Marrale. He 64 

provided an overview of local and global experts who partnered with ARADEV for the project. Mr. Cohen 65 

explained the Wake Robin Inn was constructed as the Taconic School for Girls built in 1898. The 66 

structure became an inn in 1913 and changed ownership twice. He said the goal of this redevelopment 67 

was to return the property back to previous status as a staple of the community. Mr. Cohen presented a 68 

Site Plan and photographs of current property conditions. He explained the facility has hosted a variety 69 

of events with two-hundred plus guests, but can comfortably accommodate three-hundred plus guests. 70 

He commented that the property owners had not received noise complaints over the past twenty-two 71 

years. 72 

 73 

Mark Arigoni introduced an explanation of differences between the previous and current application, 74 

and noted the sound study would be reviewed at a future meeting. He said approval was received from 75 

the Inland Wetlands & Watercourses Commission (IWWC) with a 5-0-0 vote on April 28, 2025. Approval 76 

was also received from the Water Pollution Control Authority (WPCA) on June 25, 2025. Mr. Arigoni said 77 

legal language was being finalized with the Natural Diversity Database and Connecticut Department of 78 

Energy and Environmental Protection (DEEP) to further detail a conservation restriction easement over 79 

the relocation of plant materials on site. He said a new architect contributed detailed architectural 80 

renderings for the project. Mr. Arigoni presented a graphic Site Plan of the proposed property 81 

conditions. 82 

 83 

Mr. Arigoni said fifty-three guest rooms were proposed in the redeveloped primary inn structure and 84 

four cottages are proposed, reduced from the original application with twelve cottages. The previously 85 

proposed event barn structure was relocated to a rear section of the expanded Inn structure. He 86 

explained the proposed spa building was in its same elevated location to reduce earth disturbance, but 87 

architectural design was adjusted. 88 

 89 

Mr. Arigoni said primary access to the property was proposed on Sharon Road (Rte. 41), and extensive 90 

safety modifications for the driveway were under review by the Connecticut Department of 91 

Transportation (DOT). DOT would not provide final approval until the Planning & Zoning Commission 92 



 

SALISBURY PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

Tuesday August 5th 2025 6:30PM 

Remote Meeting by Live Internet Video Stream and Telephone 

grants an approval. He said the one-way driveway entering the property was in the same general 93 

location as the existing drive and the entrance proposed on the previous application. A one-way 94 

driveway exiting the property would be constructed separately to allow for an improved sight line onto 95 

Sharon Road. Mr. Arigoni showed a more defined vehicular drop off loop proposed to facilitate valet 96 

services for guests. Additional parking was included if guests preferred to park on their own or for 97 

patrons visiting the proposed fast casual restaurant. He explained the pre-existing driveway leading to a 98 

cell tower would accommodate a proposed storage barn, centralized delivery area, one cottage, and 99 

parking for staff and patrons of the spa building. 100 

 101 

Mr. Arigoni said the driveway connected to Wells Hill Road would be gated and locked for emergency 102 

use only. He stated that an accessory apartment located on the Granbery parcel would remain. 103 

Improvements to the application were made following discussion with the Fire Marshal. Mr. Arigoni also 104 

presented images and theme boards to show visualizations of the project. 105 

 106 

Mr. Cohen summarized that there are fifty-seven guest rooms including cottages and hotel rooms. He 107 

explained the hotel and fast casual restaurant would be open to the public. Food and beverage services 108 

would be between 7:00AM and 10:00PM Monday through Thursday, 7:00AM and 11:00PM Friday 109 

through Sunday and holidays. All outdoor dining would be moved indoors by 9:00PM. He added private 110 

events would be able to extend until 12:00 midnight depending on the day of the week. Mr. Cohen 111 

presented a first-floor plan of the inn structure. The fast casual restaurant would have a service window 112 

open to the public, and a lounge and event space would also occupy the first floor. 113 

 114 

Mr. Cohen explained the cottages were redeveloped to resemble residential homes similar to the 115 

neighboring area. All cottages were two-stories featuring two-bedrooms and a loft. He explained the 116 

event space located within the Inn structure had a maximum capacity of one-hundred twenty-five 117 

guests. Hours would be between 9:00AM and 10:00PM Monday through Thursday and 9:00AM and 118 

12:00 midnight Friday through Sunday and holidays. The event space would require a private contract, 119 

and private events of over fifty people would be required to hire private security for the duration of the 120 

event. He added that all staff would be certified in serve-safe alcohol training to avoid overserving and 121 

promote safe consumption. 122 

 123 

Mr. Cohen said the spa facility would be open Monday through Sunday between 7:00AM and 7:00PM. 124 

The spa would be open to the public by reservation only with Inn guests receiving priority. He explained 125 

the pool would not be open to the public and would be accessible to Wake Robin Inn guests between 126 

9:00AM and 8:00PM. Mr. Cohen presented a Site Plan comparison between the previously withdrawn 127 

and newly submitted application. He explained the scale and impact of the project had been reduced 128 

and improved. 129 

 130 

Mr. Cohen explained the project was consistent with the Town’s Plan of Conservation and Development 131 

(POCD). Mr. Cohen suggested the redevelopment project could benefit the Town by providing year-132 

round tourism, stimulate local commerce, generate local employment opportunities, and encourage 133 

community interaction and engagement. 134 

 135 

Chair Klemens asked if tented outdoor events would be hosted. Mr. Cohen replied daytime tented 136 

weddings or events could be hosted on the lawn, but evening events would be indoors only. Chair 137 

Klemens asked if amplified music would be allowed in the outdoor tents. Mr. Cohen replied amplified 138 



 

SALISBURY PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

Tuesday August 5th 2025 6:30PM 

Remote Meeting by Live Internet Video Stream and Telephone 

microphones could be used. 139 

 140 

Vice Chair Shyer asked for the lawn location for tented events. Mr. Cohen replied the lawn would be 141 

located adjacent to the pool. Vice Chair Shyer asked for guest capacity for tented outdoor events. Mr. 142 

Marrale replied one-hundred twenty-five guests. Vice Chair Shyer asked if a gym was included within the 143 

inn’s structure. Mr. Marrale indicated a gym space would be on the first floor only accessible to hotel 144 

guests. 145 

 146 

Commissioner Cockerline asked for a more detailed explanation of the growth curve in traffic within the 147 

general area and the level of service classifications. 148 

 149 

Alternate Member Schiffer asked how many guests could be accommodated in the four, two-thousand 150 

square foot cottages. Mr. Marrale replied the maximum occupancy would be six individuals per cottage. 151 

 152 

Alternate Member Wells asked if ARADEV would operate the project. Mr. Marrale replied yes, ARADEV 153 

planned to develop and operate the project. Alternate Member Wells asked for examples of previous 154 

projects operated by ARADEV. Attorney Mackey replied that the background of ARADEV was established 155 

and previous projects are not relevant for consideration of the application.   156 

 157 

Chair Klemens opened the floor to the public for comments and questions. He asked the Applicant to 158 

respond in writing after the meeting. 159 

 160 

Member of the public David Kamp explained he is the owner of an abutting property on Wells Hill Road. 161 

Mr. Kamp expressed concern over the behavior of guests using the cottages. He said Wells Hill Road had 162 

historically been a residential area, and asked if there would be a representative of the Wake Robin Inn 163 

to contact for accountability if guests are disturbing or unruly. 164 

 165 

Member of the public Gerry Freedman explained he was familiar with the Wake Robin Inn property, and 166 

believed the proposed project multiplied in size and function compared to the previous use. He 167 

questioned whether hotel use would be allowed with Town Regulations in a residential area. Mr. 168 

Freedman wished to know the outcome of the application after the Cruger lawsuit concludes. 169 

 170 

Member of the public Paul Serbaniewicz explained he is a property owner on Sharon Road. Mr. 171 

Serbaniewicz asked for additional information on proposed parking and anticipated light pollution 172 

emitting from vehicles. He asked if a six-foot elevated embankment could be constructed around the 173 

parking area to mitigate light and noise pollution. 174 

 175 

Member of the public Greg Wilmore believed the Commission rejected the previous application due to 176 

size and intensity of the project. Mr. Wilmore thought the redevelopment was not appropriate for the 177 

surrounding neighborhood. He believed there was no material change to the application's intensity and 178 

believed the revised proposal may be more dense than the withdrawn proposal. He believed the 179 

application disregarded guidance provided by the Commission and did not meet standards of a Special 180 

Permit, and the redevelopment would adversely affect enjoyment, usefulness, and value of nearby 181 

properties. Mr. Wilmore believed the Commission should deny the application. Chair Klemens clarified 182 

that the Applicant withdrew their previously submitted application and the Commission did not vote nor 183 

deny the application. 184 



 

SALISBURY PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

Tuesday August 5th 2025 6:30PM 

Remote Meeting by Live Internet Video Stream and Telephone 

 185 

Member of the public Judge Faith Hochberg mentioned a blind curve on the east side of Sharon Road. 186 

She believed increased traffic from the project could be a danger to residents on the west side of Sharon 187 

Road while exiting their driveways. She mentioned that the Applicant has previously committed to no 188 

land clearing for the new portion of the driveway until approval was secured from DOT to remove the 189 

rock ledge on the east side of Sharon Road. Judge Hochberg asked if the Applicant was willing to make 190 

the same commitment for the current Application. 191 

 192 

Member of the public Bill Cruger requested additional data on the events hosted at the Wake Robin Inn 193 

over the last three to five years. Mr. Cruger disagreed that the current Inn had not received complaints, 194 

and commented that he personally has complained about noise pollution from hosted events at the 195 

Wake Robin. Mr. Cruger asked if the Applicant could provide a Site Plan of the current property and how 196 

it compares to the proposed project. 197 

 198 

Member of the public Elyse Harney said she had been a Town resident since 1963 and thanked the 199 

Commission for their work. Ms. Harney expressed opposition to the redevelopment and believed the 200 

expansion was too large for the infrastructure of Town. She was not opposed to renovation of the 201 

existing building and property. She believed Town residents would experience a diminished quality of life 202 

and property values, and nearby natural resources should be better protected. 203 

 204 

Member of the public Ryan Diamond said he was a lifelong Town resident, and he believed this 205 

application could be a positive addition to Town livelihood and allow for additional business, tourism, 206 

and visitors. 207 

 208 

Member of the public Lori Shepard expressed concern that the traffic study performed in June 2024 209 

should not be considered since it may be out of date. Ms. Shepard asked for additional details regarding 210 

removal of soil and trees on the property due to drainage issues nearby. She expressed concern with 211 

light pollution and recommended the Town should review light spillage from the property. 212 

 213 

Members of the public Paul and Elaine Watson said they were property owners on Sharon Road. Ms. 214 

Watson asked if the cottages could be utilized as long-term or permanent rental homes. Mr. Watson 215 

expressed concern regarding tree removal potentially exposing the cell tower to neighboring properties. 216 

 217 

Member of the public Elyse Nelson explained she was opposed to the proposal. Ms. Nelson believed the 218 

redevelopment was too large for a residential neighborhood, is in too close a proximity to nearby 219 

homes, and too large for an eleven-acre parcel of land. She was not opposed to renovation of the 220 

existing inn structure, and believed the proposed redeveloped hotel would cater to out-of-town visitors 221 

rather than Town residents. 222 

 223 

Member of the public Laurie Fendrich commented that she was opposed to the proposed application. 224 

Ms. Fendrich believed the project was out of scale compared to the surrounding residential 225 

neighborhood. She expressed concern with increased traffic on Wells Hill Road, and believed an event 226 

space was unnecessary for the village of Lakeville. 227 

 228 

Member of the public Darryl Peck mentioned a Freedom of Information Act (FOI) request for Town 229 

documents made by Attorney Mackey. Mr. Peck believed the FOI request was preparation for a potential 230 



 

SALISBURY PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

Tuesday August 5th 2025 6:30PM 

Remote Meeting by Live Internet Video Stream and Telephone 

lawsuit against the Town effectively threatening the Commission. LUD Conroy clarified that the FOI 231 

request is ninety percent complete and all members of the public have the right to make an FOI request. 232 

 233 

Member of the public Mark Capecelatro questioned the inclusion of the Granbery property. Mr. 234 

Capecelatro said the property was not owned by the Wake Robin Inn, rather by Serena Granbery who 235 

signed the application. The standalone property was less than three acres. He asked if a Special Permit 236 

could be granted for use as a hotel on a property less than ten acres without frontage on a state 237 

highway. He believed a precedent could be set if the second property does not qualify based on 238 

Regulations. Chair Klemens asked if the Wake Robin Inn property was over ten acres, Mr. Marrale 239 

replied yes. Chair Klemens asked if the Granbery property would need to be included to meet the 240 

dimensional requirements of the Special Permit. Attorney Mackey replied no.   241 

 242 

Member of the public John Franchini said he shared all concerns regarding light, noise, traffic, and the 243 

event space. Mr. Franchini believed some obligations made by the Applicant would be unenforceable. 244 

He said there is no method of enforcement in the community to ensure action on reports of non-245 

compliance or complaints. 246 

 247 

Member of the public Heidi Hoeller explained she was opposed to the proposed application. Ms. Hoeller 248 

expressed concern regarding the project scale compared to the surrounding residential area. She said a 249 

current traffic study should be performed at the intersection between Sharon Road and Wells Hill Road. 250 

She asked if dark-skies compliant lighting could be used on the property parking lot. Ms. Hoeller asked 251 

how garbage would be secured from bears. 252 

 253 

Member of the public Greg Wilmore read a statement from member of the public Moisha Blechman. 254 

Chair Klemens recommended that Ms. Blechman’s letter be sent to the LUO for Public Record. 255 

 256 

Member of the public John Moeller explained he was opposed to the application due to the scale of the 257 

project. Mr. Moeller expressed concern with enforcement. He asked if there were Town regulations 258 

regarding off-street parking, and if that could be a potential problem at this property. 259 

 260 

Member of the public Mark Capecelatro expressed concern with use of the Granbery property outside of 261 

residential use for any current Wake Robin Inn operations. 262 

 263 

Vice Chair Shyer asked the Applicant how many times they anticipate turning tables at the proposed 264 

restaurant and asked for clarification on afternoon versus evening traffic. 265 

 266 

Attorney Mackey clarified that a traffic study was completed by a professional Engineer and was 267 

reviewed and signed off by the Town’s traffic Engineer. He said a photometric plan was submitted with 268 

the application materials which showed 0.0 light levels at all property boundaries. He said stormwater 269 

drainage of the area would improve because of the proposed project. He said a complete arborist report 270 

and survey was completed for the property, and the arborist would be consulted throughout 271 

construction. 272 

 273 

Motion: To continue the public hearing on Tuesday August 12, 2025 at 6:30PM via Zoom. 274 

Made by Whalen, seconded by Riva. 275 

Vote: 5-0-0 in favor. 276 



 

SALISBURY PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

Tuesday August 5th 2025 6:30PM 

Remote Meeting by Live Internet Video Stream and Telephone 

 277 

Tabled Business 278 

7. #2025-0291 / David Pachter (Tim Sneller) / 136 Long Pond Road / Special Permit Application for 279 

Detached Accessory Apartment on Single Family Residential Lot (Section 208) / Map 02 / Lot 12 / DOR: 280 

06/16/2025 / Pending 281 

 282 

8. #2025-0294 / A Slice of LLC (Hackett) / 79 Old CNE Road / Modification of Approved Site Plan #2023-283 

0235 to Demolish an Existing and Build New Single Family Residence in the Lake Protection Overlay 284 

District (Section 404) / Map 40 / Lot 29 / DOR: 07/07/2025 / Pending 285 

 286 

9. #2025-0295 / 235 Belgo Road, LLC / 235 Belgo Road / Vertical Expansion of a Nonconforming Barn 287 

Proposed for Conversion to Single Family Residence (Section 503.2) / Map 9 / Lot 9 / DOR:07/21/2025 / 288 

Public Hearing Scheduled 08/18/2025 at 6:45PM 289 

 290 

Adjournment 291 

The meeting adjourned at 8:58pm. 292 

 293 

Respectfully Submitted, 294 

Erika Spino 295 

Secretary of Minutes 296 


